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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF IDAHO 

 

GERALD ROSS PIZZUTO, JR., 
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JOSH TEWALT, Director, Idaho Department 

of Correction; TYRELL DAVIS, Warden, Idaho 

Maximum Security Institution; and Unknown 

Employees, Agents or Contractors of the Idaho 

Department of Correction, 

 
Defendants. 

 

 

Case No. 1:21-CV-267 

MOTION FOR SUMMMARY JUDGMENT 

FOR FAILURE TO EXHAUST AND 

MOTION TO DISMISS AMENDED 

COMPLAINT (DKT 23) 

 

 

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. Pro. 12(b)(6) and 56, Defendants Josh Tewalt, Director, Idaho 

Department of Correction; Tyrell Davis, Warden, Idaho Maximum Security Institution; and 

Unknown Employees, Agents or Contractors of the Idaho Department of Correction request the 

Court dismiss the amended complaint (Dkt. 23) with prejudice. Plaintiff has failed to make a prima 

facie showing that he is entitled to relief under the Religious Land Use and Institutionalized 
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Persons Act, the Free Exercise Clause of the First Amendment of the United States Constitution 

under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, or Idaho’s Free Exercise of Religion Protected Act. Additionally, 

dismissal is appropriate under Rule 56 as Plaintiff has failed to exhaust his administrative remedies 

as required for inmate lawsuits by the Prison Litigation Reform Act, 42 U.S.C. 1977(e) 

This Motion is supported by the concurrently filed Statement of Undisputed Facts, 

Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment and Dismiss, and the Declaration of 

IMSI Grievance Coordinator Tara Young. 

Respectfully submitted October 4, 2021. 

By:  /s/ Kristina M. Schindele 

  

  /s/ Oscar Klaas   

Deputy Attorneys General 

Counsel for Defendants 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

I certify that on October 4, 2021, I caused to be served a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing via CM/ECF Electronic Notification: 

 

Jonah J. Horwitz: Jonah_Horwitz@fd.org 

Christopher M. Sanchez: Christopher_M_Sanchez@fd.org 

Miles Pope: Miles_Pope@fd.org 

Stanley J. Panikowski: stanley.panikowski@dlapiper.com 

Amanda Camelotto: amanda.camelotto@dlapiper.com 

 

Counsel for Plaintiff 

/s/ Kristina M. Schindele 

Kristina M. Schindele 

Deputy Attorney General 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF IDAHO 

 

GERALD ROSS PIZZUTO, JR., 

 

Plaintiff, 

 

v. 

 

JOSH TEWALT, Director, Idaho Department 

of Correction; TYRELL DAVIS, Warden, Idaho 

Maximum Security Institution; and Unknown 

Employees, Agents or Contractors of the Idaho 

Department of Correction, 

 
Defendants. 

 

 

Case No. 1:21-CV-267 

STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED 

MATERIAL FACTS 

 

 

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. Pro Rule 56, and Loc. Civ. R. 7.1, Defendants file the following 

statement of the material facts which Defendants contends are not in dispute in this case. 

1. Plaintiff Gerald Pizzuto is an inmate in the custody of the Idaho Department of Correction 

(IDOC). Currently, Pizzuto is housed at the Idaho Maximum Security Institution (IMSI). Pizzuto 
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is under a sentence of death for the 1985 murders of Berta Herndon and her nephew Delbert 

Herndon. 

2. On April 9, 2021, Pizzuto filed an IDOC “Inmate Concern From”, directed to Defendant 

Ty Davis, the IMSI Warden. Pizzuto stated, “The new protocol puts my spiritual [] in the witness 

gallery before and during my execution, rather than in the execution chamber. I need my spiritual 

advisor in the execution chamber by my side before and during the execution to give me comfort 

and support. To keep him away violates my religious rights under the First Amendment, RLUIPA, 

and similar laws.” Declaration of IMSI Grievance Coordinator Tara Young (“Young Decl.”), Exh. 

1. 

3. Warden Davis responded to the concern form on April 13, 2021, replying to Pizzuto, “[P]er 

SOP 135.02.01.001 the only individuals allowed in the chamber are the condemned person, 2 

escort team members, an interpreter (if necessary) the IDOC director and the IMSI Warden.” 

Young Decl., Exh. 1. 

4. Pizzuto filed a grievance, which was returned to him without action on April 26, 2021, as 

he did not attach a copy of his concern form. Young Decl., Exh. 2. 

5. On April 28, 2021, Pizzuto filed a grievance, in which he repeated virtually the same issue 

he included in his April 9 concern form. He requested the following solution, “Allow my spiritual 

advisor to be present in the execution chamber before and during my execution.” Young Decl., 

Exh. 3. 

6. On April 30, 2021, Warden Davis responded to the April 28 grievance. Warden Davis 

again referred to the list of persons permitted in the execution chamber under SOP 135.02.01.001. 

Deputy Director of Prisons Amanda Gentry reviewed the response from Warden Davis and stated, 

“Mr. Pizzuto we are going to follow SOP 135.02.01.001 per Warden Davis response therefore 
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your request to have a spiritual advisor in the execution chamber is denied, this person will be 

allowed in the witness gallery per sop.” Young Decl., Exh. 3. 

7. On May 17, 2021, Pizzuto appealed his April 28 grievance, which was assigned to Chief 

of Prisons Chad Page. In the appeal, Pizzuto repeated the same issue documented in his concern 

form and grievance. Chief Page issued the following response, “Mr. Pizzuto, I have reviewed your 

grievance and concur with the level 1 and Level 2’s response, we are going to follow SOP 

135.02.01.001. Your request to have a spiritual advisor in the execution chamber is denied. I do 

however see some flexibility with your visits with your spiritual advisor leading up to the 

execution. I would ask that you meet/speak with Warden Davis to discuss these options.” Young 

Decl., Exh. 3. 

8. The IDOC Grievance Process is generally expressed in IDOC Policy 316 Offender 

Grievance Process. The grievance procedure is set forth in IDOC Division of Prisons Standard 

Operating Procedure 316.02.01.001 (“SOP 316”). Policy 316 (version 2.5), in effect since 

February 3, 2012, is readily available at 

http://forms.idoc.idaho.gov/WebLink/0/edoc/273528/Grievance%20Process%20Offender.pdf. 

SOP 316 (version 4.0 ), in effect since November 7, 2018, and associated Appendices A-E, is 

readily available at 

http://forms.idoc.idaho.gov/WebLink/0/edoc/273528/Grievance%20Process%20Offender.pdf. 

9. Pizzuto did not request physical contact or audible communication with or from his 

spiritual advisor during his execution in either his concern form or his grievance. 
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Respectfully submitted October 4, 2021. 

By:  /s/ Kristina M. Schindele  

  /s/ Oscar Klaas   

 Deputy Attorneys General 

Counsel for Defendants 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

I certify that on this 4th day of October 2021, I caused to be served a true and correct copy 

of the foregoing via CM/ECF Electronic Notification: 

 

Jonah J. Horwitz: Jonah_Horwitz@fd.org 

Christopher M. Sanchez: Christopher_M_Sanchez@fd.org 

Miles Pope: Miles_Pope@fd.org 

Stanley J. Panikowski: stanley.panikowski@dlapiper.com 

Amanda Camelotto: amanda.camelotto@dlapiper.com 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 

 

       /s/ Kristina M. Schindele  

       Kristina M. Schindele 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF IDAHO 

 

GERALD ROSS PIZZUTO, JR., 

 

Plaintiff, 

 

v. 

 

JOSH TEWALT, Director, Idaho Department 

of Correction; TYRELL DAVIS, Warden, Idaho 

Maximum Security Institution; and Unknown 

Employees, Agents or Contractors of the Idaho 

Department of Correction, 

 
Defendants. 

 

 

Case No. 1:21-CV-267 

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF 

MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

AND MOTION TO DISMISS AMENDED 

COMPLAINT (DKT 23) 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

In this case, Plaintiff Gerald Pizzuto (“Plaintiff”), a prisoner under a sentence of death, 

challenges the Idaho Department of Correction’s (“IDOC”) standard operating procedure limiting 

the persons permitted in the execution chamber during an execution. Plaintiff raises claims against 

the IDOC Director, the warden of the Idaho State Maximum Security Institution (“IMSI”), and 
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unidentified escort and medical team members in their official capacities pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 

1983. Plaintiff contends he has a sincerely held belief that the presence of his spiritual advisor “in 

the execution chamber is necessary to maintain [his] spiritual fortitude and well-being….” Am. 

Compl. (Dkt. 23, ⁋ 43.) According to Plaintiff, IDOC’s execution procedure that does not permit 

the presence of his spiritual advisor in the execution chamber during his execution violates the 

Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons Act (“RLUIPA”), 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000cc et seq.; 

the Free Exercise Clause of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution under 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1983, and Idaho’s Free Exercise of Religion Protected Act (“FERPA”), I.C.§ 73-402. (Id., ⁋⁋ 

76-90; 91-107; 108-117.) Plaintiff specifically alleges his spiritual beliefs require his spiritual 

advisor, who Plaintiff identifies as Emil Kolar, to maintain physical contact with him until he 

passes on and share an audible prayer with him moments before the execution commences. (Id., ¶ 

45.) 

Plaintiff requests a declaratory judgment that the execution procedure violates his religious 

rights and seeks to enjoin the IDOC from executing Plaintiff until the execution procedure is 

amended to permit his spiritual advisor to be present in the execution chamber during the 

execution, to share an audible prayer with Plaintiff before the execution commences and to 

maintain physical contact with Plaintiff during the execution until he passes. (Dkt. 23, ¶ 118(b)). 

This Court should dismiss the Amended Complaint for two reasons. First, Plaintiff did not 

exhaust the prison administrative grievance process prior to filing this lawsuit as required by the 

Prison Litigation Reform Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1997e (“PLRA”), except for Plaintiff’s request for the 

presence of his spiritual advisor in the execution chamber. Plaintiff did not exhaust his claims as 

his concern form and grievance did not mention his requests for physical contact or audible 

communication from or with his spiritual advisor. His imperfect exhaustion does not satisfy the 
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PLRA’s strict requirement, and the Court should dismiss the claims in his Amended Complaint. 

Second, Plaintiff has failed to plead a plausible cause of action for a violation of a federally secured 

right, rendering the claims subject to dismissal under Fed. R. Civ. Pro. 12(b)(6). Plaintiff has also 

failed to make a prima facie case under Idaho’s FERPA. Additionally, given the failure to state a 

federal claim, this Court should decline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the state law 

claim. For these reasons, as explained more fully below, Defendants request that the Court dismiss 

the Amended Complaint with prejudice. 

BACKGROUND1 

 

Plaintiff is an inmate housed at IMSI, sentenced to death for the murders of Berta Herndon 

and her nephew Del Herndon. Pizzuto v. Yordy, 947 F.3d 510, 515 (9th Cir. 2019). His conviction 

and sentences were affirmed by the Idaho Supreme Court. State v. Pizzuto, 119 Idaho 742, 778, 

810 P.2d 680, 716 (Idaho 1991) (overruled on other grounds by State v. Card, 121 Idaho 425, 825 

P.2d 1081 (Idaho 1991)). The state court issued a Death Warrant on May 6, 2021, which set June 

2, 2021, as the date for Plaintiff’s execution. (Dkt. 16, ¶ 71.) The Death Warrant has been stayed 

until conclusion of commutation proceedings related to Plaintiff’s pending commutation petition 

on May 18, 2021. (Id., ¶ 72.) 

IDOC has a standard operating procedure for executions, IDOC SOP 135.02.01.001 (“SOP 

135”).2 SOP 135 establishes specific procedures for administration of capital punishment in 

accordance with state and federal law. SOP 135 was initially adopted on May 18, 1998, under the 

 
1 For arguments under Rule 12(b)(6) only, the allegations in the Amended Complaint as treated as true. This is not an 

admission the allegations are true, or a waiver to contest them in future proceedings. 
2 SOP 135 is available at http://doc-sco-lfiche/WebLink/0/edoc/283090/Execution%20Procedures.pdf. The Court may 

take judicial notice of SOP 135 pursuant to Fed. R. Evid. 201(b)(2). 
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authority delegated by Idaho statutes, including Idaho Code § 19-2716. The current version of SOP 

135, version 4, was issued on March 30, 2021.3 

Shortly after the revised SOP 135 issued, on April 9, 2021, Plaintiff filed an Inmate 

Concern Form. Plaintiff specifically identified his issue, “The new protocol puts my spiritual [sic] 

in the witness gallery before and during my execution, rather than in the execution chamber. I need 

my spiritual advisor in the execution chamber by my side before and during the execution to give 

me comfort and support. To keep him away violates my religious rights under the Frist 

Amendment, RLUIPA, and similar laws.” Declaration of IMSI Grievance Coordinator Tara 

Young, Exh. 1 (“Young Decl.”). Warden Davis responded, advising Plaintiff SOP 135 identifies 

the persons permitted in the execution chamber during the execution. Id. 

Plaintiff filed a grievance, but his grievance was returned without action. Young Decl., 

Exh. 2. Plaintiff properly filed his grievance on April 28, 2021. Id., Exh. 3. Plaintiff repeated the 

issue verbatim in his grievance. Id., Exhs. 2 and 3. He also proposed a specific solution – “Allow 

my spiritual advisor to be present in the execution chamber before and during my execution.” Id., 

Exhs. 2 and 3. Warden Davis, as the initial responder, and Deputy Chief of Prisons Amanda 

Gentry, as the reviewing authority, declined to permit Plaintiff’s spiritual advisor in the execution 

chamber, citing SOP 135. When Plaintiff appealed his grievance, Chief of Prisons Chad Page 

denied his request to have his spiritual advisor present in the execution chamber, but granted relief 

related to the presence of Plaintiff’s spiritual advisor leading up to the execution. Id., Exh. 3. 

On June 24, 2021, Plaintiff filed his initial Complaint. (Dkt. 1.) Defendants timely filed 

their Answer. (Dkt. 16.) Plaintiff responded by filing the Amended Complaint. (Dkt. 23.) The 

Amended Complaint largely replicates the initial Complaint with two primary differences. In his 

 
3 SOP 135 must conform with Board of Correction Rule 135. See IDAPA 06.01.01.135. 
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initial Complaint, Plaintiff made a single reference to physical contact with his spiritual advisor, 

see Dkt. 1, ¶ 68, and omitted any request for verbal communication or audible prayer with or from 

his spiritual advisor. In the Amended Complaint, Plaintiff made several averments regarding 

physical contact and audible communication. For example:  

• Plaintiff added the language in paragraph 45, which states, “Because IDOC refuses 

to allow Mr. Kolar’s presence within the execution chamber, IDOC is also 

infringing on Mr. Pizzuto’s religious beliefs that require that Mr. Kolar be allowed 

to maintain physical contact with Mr. Pizzuto during the execution until he passes 

and that Mr. Kolar be allowed to share an audible prayer with Mr. Pizzuto in the 

moments before the execution commences.” (Dkt. 23, ¶ 45). 

 

• Plaintiff added some language in his general allegations - “Mr. Pizzuto believes 

that Mr. Kolar’s presence in the execution chamber would provide Mr. Pizzuto with 

spiritual comfort through an audible prayer and holding his hand or putting a hand 

on his shoulder or leg or elsewhere on his body as he faces his own mortality.” 

Compare Dkt. 1, ¶ 68 with Dkt. 23, ¶ 69 (emphasis added). 

 

• Plaintiff added similar language in Claim 1, his RLUIPA claim - “The Court should 

prevent Mr. Pizzuto from being executed without his spiritual advisor’s presence 

in the execution chamber and without the comfort of audible prayer and 

physical contact before death.” Compare Dkt. 1, ¶ 89 with Dkt. 23, ¶ 90 (emphasis 

added). 

 

• Plaintiff replaced the phrase “and guidance” with additional allegations -

“Removing Mr. Kolar from Mr. Pizzuto’s presence hours before the execution and 

only allowing Mr. Kolar to witness the execution from the witness room does not 

constitute a reasonable alternative to securing the comfort, prayer, and physical 

contact of a spiritual advisor during one’s execution.” Compare Dkt. 1, ¶ 100 with 
Dkt. 23, ¶ 101 (emphasis added). 

 

• Plaintiff revised his prayer for relief to include a request to enjoin his execution 

until IDOC permitted the presence of his spiritual advisor, as well as audible 

communication with or from his spiritual advisor and physical contact until he 

passes on. Compare Dkt. 1, ¶ 117(b) with Dkt. 23, ¶ 118(b).  

 

In summary, the Amended Complaint sets out the three same claims. First, Plaintiff alleges 

Defendants, in relying on SOP 135, violate his rights to religious exercise under RLUIPA. Second, 

he contends the same conduct violates his right to Free Exercise under the United States 

Constitution, enforced through 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Finally, Plaintiff claims Defendants infringe on 
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his rights under Idaho’s FERPA. For the first time, Plaintiff asserts a spiritual belief that he requires 

physical contact and audible communication with his spiritual advisor in addition to the presence 

of his spiritual advisor in the execution chamber. 

ARGUMENT 

I. BECAUSE PLAINTIFF DID NOT EXHAUST HIS ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES, THE COURT 

SHOULD DISMISS THE AMENDED COMPLAINT WITHOUT PREJUDICE. 

 

A. SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD 

Summary judgment is appropriate where a party can show that, as to any claim or defense, 

“there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a 

matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P.56(a). One of the principal purposes of the summary judgment rule 

“is to isolate and dispose of factually unsupported claims or defenses.” Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 

477 U.S. 317, 323-24 (1986). Summary Judgment is not “a disfavored procedural shortcut,” but is 

instead the “principal tool[] by which factually insufficient claims or defenses [can] be isolated 

and prevented from going to trial with the attendant unwarranted consumption of public and 

private resources.” Id. at 327. 

B. FAILURE TO EXHAUST ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES STANDARD 

“In a typical PLRA case, a defendant will have to present probative evidence – in the words 

of Jones, to ‘plead and prove’ - that the prisoner has failed to exhaust available administrative 

remedies….” Albino v. Baca, 747 F.3d 1162, 1169 (9th Cir. 2014) (citing Jones v. Bock, 549 U.S. 

199, 204 (2007)). Even though processed in the same manner as summary judgment, exhaustion 

“should be decided as early as feasible”. Id. at 1170. Exhaustion, analogous to subject matter 

jurisdiction, personal jurisdiction, venue, and abstention, creates an issue of “judicial 
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administration” and should be addressed before reaching the merits of a prisoner’s claim. Id. 

The exhaustion requirement of the PLRA mandates that “[n]o action shall be brought with 

respect to prison conditions under section 1983 of this title, or any other Federal law, by a prisoner 

confined in any jail, prison, or other correctional facility until such administrative remedies as are 

available are exhausted.” 42 U.S.C. § 1997e (a). The PLRA’s exhaustion requirement applies to 

all inmate suits about prison life, whether they involve general or particular circumstances,” Porter 

v. Nussle, 534 U.S. 516, 532 (2002), including RLUIPA challenges under Section 1983. Fuqua v. 

Ryan, 890 F.3d 890 F.3d 838, 844 (2018). “There is no question that exhaustion is mandatory 

under the PLRA and that unexhausted claims cannot be brought in court.” Jones v. Bock, 549 U.S. 

199, 211 (2007) (citing Porter v. Nussle, 534 U.S. 516, 524 (2002)). The PLRA’s exhaustion 

requirement “applies to all prisoners seeking redress for prison circumstances or occurrences.” 

Porter v Nussle, 534 U.S. 516, 520 (2002). Proper exhaustion is required “even where it may 

appear futile.” Nunez v. Duncan, 591 F.3d 1217, 1231 (9th Cir. 2010) (J. Ikuta, dissenting in part 

(quoting Booth v. Churner, 532 U.S. 731, 741 (2001)). As intended by the PLRA, all motions 

addressing exhaustion of administrative remedies, including “disputed factual questions relevant 

to exhaustion[,] should be decided at the very beginning of the litigation.” Albino v. Baca, 747 

F.3d 1162, 1171 (9th Cir. 2014) (en banc). 

The Supreme Court has identified the purposes of the exhaustion requirement: 

First, exhaustion protects “administrative agency authority.” Exhaustion 

gives an agency an opportunity to correct its own mistakes with respect to the 

programs it administers before it is [hailed] into federal court,” and it discourages 

“disregard of [the agency's] procedures. 

 

Second, exhaustion promotes efficiency. Claims generally can be resolved 

much more quickly and economically in proceedings before an agency than in 

litigation in federal court. In some cases, claims are settled at the administrative 

level, and in others, the proceedings before the agency convince the losing party 

not to pursue the matter in federal court. 
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Woodford v. Ngo, 548 U.S. 81, 89 (2006) (internal citations and quotations omitted). 

IDOC has adopted an administrative grievance process which was readily available to 

Plaintiff at all times relevant to this lawsuit. IDOC Standard Operating Procedure 316.02.01.001, 

version 3.9 (“Grievance SOP”) sets out the IDOC inmate grievance procedure. Young Decl., ¶ 3. 

The IDOC grievance process has three components: concern, grievance, and appeal. Id., ⁋ 4. As 

explained in the Grievance SOP: 

The grievance and informal resolution process begins with the offender making an 

attempt to discuss with a staff member a problem or action that affects either the 

offender or the offender population as a whole. If unable to resolve the issue, the 

offender may then submit an Offender Concern Form. If the problem cannot be 

solved by submitting an Offender Concern Form, the offender can then submit a 

grievance using the Grievance/Appeal Form. 

Young Decl., ¶ 3, (available at 

http://forms.idoc.idaho.gov/WebLink/0/edoc/273528/Grievance%20Process%20Offender.pdf) 

(Grievance SOP, p.3). An offender must complete all three steps to exhaust the IDOC informal 

resolution and grievance process. 

As shown below, Plaintiff failed to exhaust any of his three claims – RLUIPA, Free 

Exercise or FERPA. 

C. BECAUSE PLAINTIFF DID NOT REQUEST PHYSICAL CONTACT OR AUDIBLE 

COMMUNICATION FROM OR WITH HIS SPIRITUAL ADVISOR IN HIS GRIEVANCE, HE 

DID NOT EXHAUST HIS ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES REGARDING ANY OF HIS 

CLAIMS. 

 

Plaintiff failed to exhaust his administrative remedies for all three of his claims. On April 

9, 2021, IMSI received an Offender Concern form from Plaintiff with the following issue 

statement: 

The new protocol puts my spiritual [sic] in the witness gallery before and during my 

execution, rather than in the execution chamber. I need my spiritual advisor in the 

execution chamber by my side before and during the execution to give me comfort 

and support. To keep him away violates my religious rights under the First 
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Amendment, RLUIPA, and similar laws. 

Young Decl., Exh. 1. 

Warden Davis responded, informing Plaintiff IDOC would follow SOP 135.02.01.001, 

which does not permit a spiritual advisor (or anyone else not specifically approved and listed in 

SOP 135) to be present in the execution chamber. Id. Plaintiff then submitted a Grievance/Appeal 

Form, using virtually the same wording as in the Concern Form. Id., Exh. 3. Warden Davis once 

again responded; his response was approved by Deputy Chief of Prisons Amanda Gentry. Id. 

Plaintiff appealed the response, and Chief of Prisons Chad Page affirmed the decision to deny the 

request for the presence of the spiritual advisor in the execution chamber but granted Plaintiff 

additional access to his spiritual advisor before entering the execution chamber. Id. Thus the 2021 

grievance was fully processed. Neither the grievance or the appeal was rejected or otherwise 

returned by IDOC for being over the permitted length or attaching documents to the concern or 

grievance forms, or otherwise not conforming with the Grievance SOP. 

In his concern form and in his grievance, Plaintiff put IDOC on notice that he sought the 

presence of his spiritual advisor in the execution chamber to provide him with comfort and support. 

Young Decl., Exhs. 1 and 3. Although Plaintiff cited RLUIPA and the Free Exercise Clause, he 

only referenced “religious rights” in a bare and conclusory manner. Id. He did not indicate his 

request was based on a religious belief or otherwise served a specific religious need. Anyone could 

provide comfort and support to a condemned person in a secular manner. Nothing in the informal 

or formal grievance procedure advised the IDOC of a specific claim of religious exercise. 

Further, review of the 2021 Grievance demonstrates Plaintiff did not mention any concern 

regarding or specifically request physical contact or audible communication from or with his 

spiritual advisor. Plaintiff did not place these specific concerns and requests before the IDOC for 

consideration. He simply asked for the presence of his spiritual advisor at his side before and 
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during his execution to provide comfort and support. Young Decl., Exhs. 1 and 3. Exhaustion on 

one issue will not serve to exhaust administrative remedies for a different issue. See, e.g., Sheltra 

v. Christensen, et al., 2021 WL 1792054, *3 (D.Idaho, May 5, 2021) (reconsideration denied 

September 14, 2021) (grievance regarding threats and extortion related to a potential attack did not 

exhaust claims regarding failure to protect against a completed assault). 

No valid reason excuses Plaintiff’s failure to engage in the IDOC grievance procedure 

regarding the entirety of his issues. Young Decl., ⁋ 15. Plaintiff had reason to know about his 

spiritual needs prior to submitting the 2021 Grievance. In fact, Plaintiff was solely and uniquely 

positioned to identify his spiritual needs regarding his execution. The Amended Complaint alleges 

that Plaintiff has a years-long relationship with his spiritual advisor, Dkt. 23, ¶¶ 27-33, and his 

spiritual advisor has intended to be present before and during Plaintiff’s execution “for years”, id., 

¶ 39. Therefore, Plaintiff had time to grieve his specific concerns and requests related to his 

spiritual advisor in his 2021 grievance or a separate, subsequent grievance. 

Plaintiff failed to provide the IDOC with an adequate opportunity to review Plaintiff’s 

request for the presence of his spiritual advisor in the execution chamber in the context of a 

religious need or weigh the security risks considering Plaintiff’s protected interests. Plaintiff never 

raised his requests for physical contact and audible communication from or with his spiritual 

advisor. Consistent with the limited nature of his concern and grievance, the IDOC denied 

Plaintiff’s simple request for the presence of his spiritual advisor in the execution chamber. 

II. BECAUSE PLAINTIFF HAS FAILED TO ALLEGE PLAUSIBLE VIOLATIONS OF FEDERALLY 

SECURED RIGHTS AND SUPPLEMENTAL JURISDICTION IS NOT APPROPRIATE, THE COURT 

SHOULD DISMISS THE AMENDED COMPLAINT WITH PREJUDICE. 

 

Plaintiff filed this lawsuit under RLUIPA, the Free Exercise Clause of the United States 

Constitution through 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and Idaho’s FERPA. To survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion 
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to dismiss, “a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claim 

for relief that is plausible on its face.’ A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads 

factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable 

for the misconduct alleged.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting Bell Atl. Corp. 

v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). Neither of Plaintiff’s federal claims allege plausible 

violations of a federally secured right. As such, supplemental jurisdiction is not appropriate. 

Amendment has not and will not remedy these flaws. 

A. PLAINTIFF HAS FAILED TO ESTABLISH A PRIMA FACIE CASE FOR HIS RLUIPA 

CLAIM. 

 

Plaintiff has failed to identify a religious belief that requires an accommodation. Plaintiff 

has failed to demonstrate that the IDOC’s execution procedure places a substantial burden on the 

exercise of any religious belief. Because Plaintiff has never identified his religious belief or 

requested an accommodation for his belief with sufficient detail, the IDOC has been unable to 

assess potentially available alternatives with necessary particularity. 

In sum, Plaintiff has failed to make a prima facie showing of a RLUIPA violation. 

1. RLUIPA STANDARDS 

 

RLUIPA provides: 

 

No government shall impose a substantial burden on the religious exercise 

of a person residing in or confined to an institution . . . even if the burden 

results from a rule of general applicability, unless the government 

demonstrates that imposition of the burden on that person — 

 

(1) is in furtherance of a compelling governmental interest; and 

 

(2) is the least restrictive means of furthering that compelling 

governmental interest. 

 

42 U.S.C. § 2000cc-1(a). To establish a prima facie case under RLUIPA, Plaintiff bears the initial 

burden of showing “(1) that he engaged in a religious exercise, and (2) that the religious exercise 
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was substantially burdened [by a government practice].” Smith v. Allen, 502 F.3d 1255, 1276 

(11th Cir. 2011) (overruled on other grounds by Sossamon v. Texas, 563 U.S. 277 (2011)). 

The United States Supreme Court has stated, “Congress defined ‘religious exercise’ 

capaciously to include ‘any exercise of religion, whether or not compelled by, or central to, a 

system of religious belief.’” Holt v. Hobbs, 574 U.S. 352, 358 (2015) (citing 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc-

5(7)(A)). The Ninth Circuit has defined “substantial burden” on religious exercise under RLUIPA 

as official government action that “imposes a significantly great restriction or onus upon such 

exercise.” Warsoldier v. Woodford, 418 F.3d 989, 995 (9th Cir. 2005). Under RLUIPA, the 

definition of substantial burden “requires a case-by-case, fact-specific inquiry to determine 

whether the government action or regulation in question imposes a substantial burden.” Mayfield 

v. Texas Dep't of Crim. Just., 529 F.3d 599, 613 (5th Cir. 2008). 

If Plaintiff makes a prima facie case establishing such a substantial burden, “on which he 

bears the burden of persuasion, the [IDOC] shall bear the burden of persuasion to prove that any 

substantial burden on [the] exercise of his religious beliefs is both ‘in furtherance of a compelling 

governmental interest’ and ‘the least restrictive means of furthering that compelling 

governmental interest.’” Id. (emphasis in original) (citing 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc-1(a); § 2000cc-

2(b)). Conversely, if Plaintiff fails to present evidence sufficient to establish a prima facie case, 

the Court need not inquire into whether the governmental interest at stake is compelling. See 

Smith, 502 F.3d at 1276.4 

2. PLAINTIFF HAS FAILED TO PRESENT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO MAKE A PRIMA FACIE 

CASE THAT HE HOLDS A SINCERELY HELD BELIEF REQUIRING THE PRESENCE OF OR 

PHYSICAL CONTACT AND AUDIBLE COMMUNICATION WITH HIS SPIRITUAL ADVISOR 

IN THE EXECUTION CHAMBER. 

 
4 For purposes of this motion, Defendants focus on the prima facie requirements for a RLUIPA claim. In the event the 

Court orders further proceedings in this matter, Defendants preserve the right to proffer evidence concerning their 

burden under RLUIPA. 
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As noted above, RLUIPA uses a burden-shifting framework. Plaintiff bears the initial 

burden of establishing a prima facie violation of RLUIPA. To do so, Plaintiff must allege that he 

will engage in a religious exercise and that a government practice or procedure substantially 

burdens that religious exercise. He has failed to make a prima facie showing that he holds a 

sincerely held belief requiring the presence of as well as physical contact and audible 

communication from or with his spiritual advisor in the execution chamber. 

To make a prima facie case under RLUIPA, the prisoner should provide a sworn statement 

explaining how the government has substantially burdened the exercise of his religious belief. 

See, e.g., Smith v. Comm'r, Alabama Dep't of Corr., 844 F. App'x 286, 290 (11th Cir. 2021) 

(plaintiff presented declarations from himself and his spiritual advisor concerning plaintiff’s faith 

and their relationship); Gardner v. Riska, 444 F. App’x 353, 355 (11th Cir. 2011) (plaintiff failed 

to make a prima facie showing of a RLUIPA violation where he filed an affidavit but did not 

refute Defendants’ claims he consumed non-Kosher foods and did not state a sincere belief in the 

importance of a Kosher diet to free exercise of his religion). Conspicuously absent from the record 

is any statement from Plaintiff describing his personal religious beliefs. 

The Amended Complaint does document the spiritual advisor’s plan to be present with 

Plaintiff in the time leading up to and during his execution to provide solace. (Dkt. 23, ¶ 39). In 

addition, the pleading contends Plaintiff “has a sincerely held belief that Mr. Kolar’s presence by 

his side during the execution in the execution chamber is necessary to maintain Mr. Pizzuto’s 

spiritual fortitude and well-being through in-person prayer and counsel as Mr. Pizzuto crosses 

the passage between the realm of the living and the dead.” (Dkt. 23, ¶ 43). Finally, the Amended 

Complaint states it is integral to Plaintiff’s faith to have Mr. Kolar accompany him in the 

execution chamber (Dkt. 23, ¶ 67), and Plaintiff believes his spiritual advisor’s presence, coupled 
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with audible communication and physical touching, will provide him comfort as he faces his own 

mortality. (Dkt. 23, ¶ 69). However, no evidence in the record suggests that these allegations 

represent Plaintiff’s sincerely held religious belief. 

In addition, to date no court has ever found a prison’s prohibition of physical contact or 

audible communication between a spiritual advisor and a condemned person during an execution 

amounts to a substantial burden on religious practice in violation of RLUIPA. This very issue is 

the subject of a certiorari petition in Ramirez v. Collier, No. 21-5592 (U.S.), set for oral argument 

on November 1, 2021. Plaintiff has not alleged that passing without physical contact or audible 

communication violates his religion or his religious beliefs. IDOC is not imposing pressure or 

coercion on Plaintiff to behave in a manner that violates his religious beliefs. See Walker v. Beard, 

789 F.3d 1125, 1135 (9th Cir. 2015) (a prison regulation that impairs a resident’s ability to 

conform to a religious ritual or threatens disciplinary action for failure to comply burdens 

religious exercise); Brown v. Collier, 929 F.3d 218 (5th Cir. 2019) (where prohibition on group 

worship resulted from lack of volunteers rather than uniform application of a policy, Plaintiff 

failed to establish substantial burden on religious exercise). 

Based on the foregoing, Plaintiff has failed to establish a prima facie case for relief under 

RLUIPA as he has not alleged sufficient facts to demonstrate that IDOC has substantially 

burdened his sincerely held belief that his faith requires his spiritual advisor to be present in the 

execution chamber or physical contact and audible communication with his spiritual advisor. 

3. PLAINTIFF’S FIRST AMENDMENT CLAIM IS SUBSUMED IN HIS RLUIPA CLAIM AND 

ALSO FAILS. 

 

“The RLUIPA creates a higher standard of review for free exercise claims than that applicable 

to constitutional free exercise claims.” Hammons v. Jones, 2006 WL 353448, * 2 (N.D. Okla. 

2006) (citations omitted). “Therefore the strict level of scrutiny of the RLUIPA affords inmates 
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more protection against religious infringement by correctional facilities’ regulations than the 

rational basis analysis under the First Amendment.” Id.; Smith v. Haley, 401 F. Supp.2d 1240, 

1247 n. 19 (M.D. Ala. 2005) (“a prisoner’s rights are more expansive under RLUIPA than under 

the First Amendment.”) Because RLUIPA imposes a higher burden on prison officials than the 

legitimate penological interest standard applicable to First Amendment claims, it necessarily 

follows that the lack of a RLUIPA violation subsumes Plaintiff’s First Amendment claim as well. 

4. PLAINTIFF’S FERPA CLAIM FAILS FOR THE SAME AS REASONS AS HIS RLUIPA 

CLAIM. 

 

 Plaintiff asserts a claim under FERPA, Idaho Code § 73-402. (Dkt. 23, pp.13-14). In 

considering a prisoner case brought under both RLUIPA and FERPA, the Idaho Supreme Court 

has determined that “FERPA uses identical language as RLUIPA in requiring that a burden on 

religion must further a ‘compelling governmental interest’ and that it be the ‘least restrictive 

means’ of furthering that interest. Because there is no indication that the two statutes should be 

applied differently, having addressed the merits of [plaintiff’s] arguments under RLUIPA, we need 

not do it again under FERPA; the result is the same.” Hyde v. Fisher, 146 Idaho 782, 802, 203 

P.2d 712, 732 (Idaho 2009). 

 The Idaho Court of Appeals more recently reiterated, “While Idaho has little case law 

interpreting the FERPA, the legislative history of the statute makes it clear that in adopting the 

statute the Idaho legislature intended to adopt the ‘compelling interest test’ contained in” the 

Religious Freedom Restoration Act (“RFRA”). State v. White, 271 P.3d 1217, 1220 (Idaho Ct. 

App. 2011). The RFRA applies the same legal standards as RLUIPA. Gonzales v. O Centro 

Espirita Beneficente Uniao Do Vegetal, 546 U.S. 418, 436 (2006). Therefore, Plaintiff’s FERPA 

claim is governed by the same standards as his RLUIPA claim. 
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Because Plaintiff’s RLUIPA claim fails for the reasons stated above, so too does his 

FERPA claim. 

5. BECAUSE HE HAS FAILED TO EXHAUST OR STATE VALID FEDERAL CLAIMS, THE 

COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO EXERCISE SUPPLEMENTAL JURISDICTION OVER 

PLAINTIFF’S STATE LAW CLAIM. 

 

Given his failure to exhaust and properly plead his federal claims, Plaintiff has failed to 

demonstrate a valid basis for this Court to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over his remaining 

state law claim. 28 United States Code § 1367(c) provides a district court may decline to exercise 

supplemental jurisdiction over state law claims if: 

(1) the claim raises a novel or complex issue of State law, 

(2) the claim substantially predominates over the claim or claims over which the 

district court has original jurisdiction, 

(3) the district court has dismissed all claims over which it has original jurisdiction, 

or 

(4) in exceptional circumstances, there are other compelling reasons for declining 

jurisdiction. 

 

Further, the United States Supreme Court has long recommended that “state law claims ‘should’ 

be dismissed if federal claims are dismissed before trial….” Acri v. Varian Associates, Inc., 114 

F.3d 999, 1000 (9th Cir. 1997) (citing United Mine Workers v. Gibbs, 383 U.S. 715, 726 (1966)); 

see also McKinney v. Carey, 311 F.3d 1198, 1201 n.2 (9th Cir. 2002) (trial court properly declined 

to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over state law claims when federal claims were dismissed for 

failure to exhaust administrative remedies). Plaintiff’s FERPA claim should be dismissed. 
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CONCLUSION 

Plaintiff failed to exhaust his administrative remedies and failed to allege claims based on 

plausible violations of federally protected rights. Defendants request the Court dismiss all claims 

with prejudice. 

Respectfully submitted October 4, 2021. 

By:  /s/ Kristina M. Schindele  

  /s/ Oscar Klaas   

 Deputy Attorneys General 

Counsel for Defendants 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

I certify that on this 4th day of October 2021, I caused to be served a true and correct copy 

of the foregoing via CM/ECF Electronic Notification: 

 

Jonah J. Horwitz: Jonah_Horwitz@fd.org 

Christopher M. Sanchez: Christopher_M_Sanchez@fd.org 

Miles Pope: Miles_Pope@fd.org 

Stanley J. Panikowski: stanley.panikowski@dlapiper.com 

Amanda Camelotto: amanda.camelotto@dlapiper.com 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 

 

       /s/ Kristina M. Schindele  

       Kristina M. Schindele 
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EXHIBIT 1
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Idaho Department of Correction
Grievance Form

Offender Name:

Offender Number:

Location:

Category:

Number:

PIZZUTO, GERALD ROSS     JR

23721

IMSI

IM 210000183

POLICY OR SOP

  Offender Grievance Information

04/28/2021Date Received:

The problem is:

The new protocol puts my spiritual advisor in the witness gallery before and during my execution, rather than in the
execution chamber. I need my spiritual advisor in the execution chamber by my side before and during the execution to
give me comfort and support. To keep him away violates my religious rights under the First Amendment, RLUIPA, and
similar laws.

I have tried to solve this problem informally by:

Filing a concern on April. 9, 2021

I suggest the following solution for the problem:

Allow my spiritual advisor to be present in the execution chamber before and during my execution

  Level 1 - Initial Response

04/28/2021Date Forwarded: 04/30/2021Date Returned:

05/12/2021Date Due Back: DAVIS, TYRELLLevel 1 Responder:

The response from the staff member or person in charge of the area/operation being grieved:

Per SOP 135.02.01.001 the only individuals allowed in the chamber are the condemned person, two escort team members,
interpreter (if necessary), IDOC Director and the IMSI Warden or designee.

  Level 2 - Reviewing Authority Response

04/30/2021Date Forwarded: DENIEDGrievance Disposition:

05/16/2021Date Due Back: GENTRY, AMANDALevel 2 Responder:

05/13/2021Date Returned: 05/14/2021Response sent to offender:

Your grievence has been reviewed and I find:

Mr. Pizzuto we are going to follow SOP 135.02.01.001 per Warden Davis response therefore your request to have a
spiritual advisor in the execution chamber is denied, this person will be allowed in the witness gallery per sop

Created By:

CIS/Facilities/Main/Misc/Grievance Detail

Page    1    of 2Date: 06/02/2021 12:30 taryoung
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IM 210000183 PIZZUTO, GERALD ROSS     JR 23721

  Offender Appeal
Offender Comments:

The new protocol puts my spiritual advisor in the witness gallery before and during my execution, rather than in the
execution chamber. I need my spiritual advisor in the execution chamber by my side before and during the execution to
give me comfort and support. To keep him away violates my religious rights under the First Amendment, RLUIPA, and
similar laws.

  Level 3 - Appellate Authority Response

05/17/2021Date Appealed: DENIEDGrievance Disposition:

05/17/2021Date Forwarded: PAGE, CHADLevel 3 Responder:

06/02/2021Date Due Back: 06/02/2021Response sent to offender:

06/02/2021Date Returned:

Your appeal has been reviewed and I find:

Mr. Pizzuto, I have reviewed your grievance and concur with the level 1 and Level 2's response, we are going to follow
SOP 135.02.01.001. Your request to have a spiritual advisor in the execution chamber is denied. I do however see some
flexibility with your visits with your spiritual advisor leading up to the execution. I would ask that you meet/speak with
Warden Davis to discuss these options.

Created By:

CIS/Facilities/Main/Misc/Grievance Detail
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